
Proposal for the development of a  
 

Circumpolar Health Observatory [CircHOB] 
 
Rationale 
 
Circumpolar regions have much in common beyond climate and geography. While health 
priorities are generally similar, health and social policies, service delivery systems, 
available resources, and population characteristics vary considerably across regions. As a 
consequence, substantial disparities in health outcomes exist among circumpolar countries 
and regions. Monitoring, documenting, and disseminating health statistical data will 
contribute to improvements in the design of policies, planning of services, and evaluation 
of programs by government agencies, non-governmental organizations, academic 
institutions, and communities across the circumpolar world. The creation and maintenance 
of a Circumpolar Health Observatory [CircHOB] provides an invaluable service to a 
diversity of users. 
 
Objectives 
 
CircHOB is an international collaborative health information system, involved in 
systematic, standardized, and consistent data collection and analysis. It is population-based, 
and covers all northern regions in all circumpolar countries 
 
CircHOB’s purpose is to monitor trends and patterns in health status, health determinants, 
and health care, and provide an on-going and sustainable knowledge base and analytical 
support for decision-makers, service providers, academic researchers and consumers. 
 
CirHOB promotes training and research in population health and health systems and 
enhances partnerships and collaborations among circumpolar regions and countries. 
 
Organization and Management 
 
CircHOB is a flagship project of the Arctic Human Health Expert Group [AHHEG], a 
subsidiary of the Sustainable Development Working Group [SDWG] of the Arctic Council, 
formed in 2009. AHHEG consists of members nominated by all the Arctic States and 
Permanent Participants. AHHEG generally meets twice a year when the progress of 
CircHOB is reviewed. 
 
A Steering Committee provides general guidance and oversight on the project. It 
coordinates international liaison, organizes planning workshops, and supervises the 
production of reports.  
 
CircHOB also draws on the extensive networks of circumpolar health scientists through 
such organizations as the International Network for Circumpolar Health Research [INCHR] 
and the International Union for Circumpolar Health [IUCH].  
 
The technical and scientific work of CircHOB is undertaken by topic-based Working 
Groups and staff. Members of Working Groups comprise representatives of national 
statistical agencies, health ministries, custodians of specific registries and databases, and 
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relevant academic experts from all circumpolar regions. Working groups are also open to 
other interested individuals including end users of the data.  
 
Primarily a web-based resource, CircHOB’s database is located in and managed by the 
Institute for Circumpolar Health Research [ICHR], in Yellowknife, Canada [www.ichr.ca]. 
ICHR staff provide scientific, technical and administrative support. Within Canada, ICHR 
is the only non-university centre to have established a branch Research Data Centre by 
Statistics Canada, and is a repository of major national population health datasets. ICHR is 
thus a unique Canadian resource for health research which is located in the North and is a 
critical hub for CircHOB’s international mission.  
 
CirHOB is currently listed in the Sustainable Arctic Observing Networks [SAON] 
Inventory of Networks as one of three health networks based in Canada 
[http://www.arcticobserving.org/images/stories/Preparatory/inventory_reports/Canadian_Ar
ctic_Observing_Networks_Compilation_Jan_22.pdf] 
 
Methods 
 
CircHOB extracts relevant data from existing publicly available sources managed by 
different groups and agencies in international organizations and national agencies (listed in 
the Appendix): 
• Population registries, censuses and intercensal estimates 
• Vital statistics 
• Mortality/morbidity/health care utilization databases 
• Population health surveys 
• Statistical reports on special topics 
 
CircHOB does NOT involve access to individual-level health records nor do any such 
records cross national borders. It involves the preparation of tables of aggregate data only. 
Privacy and confidentiality or intellectual property rights will be respected. 
 
Most data are available from websites of national statistical agencies, health ministries, etc 
– many but not all sites are available in English. CircHOB’s scope of data collection is not 
limited by the lack of English-language resources but strives to overcome the language 
barrier (eg. Russian, Icelandic, Finnish) through its international partners. Some data 
require special tabulations produced by host agencies. Access is facilitated by direct 
personal contacts through Working Group members.  
 
While there are existing models of international statistical resources (such as those listed in 
the Appendix), none currently has the geographic scope or health content of CircHOB. For 
example, NOMESCO covers only the Nordic countries, including Greenland and Faroe 
Islands. OECD covers Canada, United States, the Nordic countries (excluding Greenland 
and Faroe Island), but not Russia. Neither provides data at the regional level. 
 
CircHOB is complementary to several projects endorsed by the Arctic Council, but does 
not duplicate their efforts: 
• The International Circumpolar Surveillance of Emerging Infectious Diseases [ICS], 

which has been in existence since 1999, currently monitors a limited number of 
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infectious diseases (such as invasive bacterial diseases). It is managed by the Arctic 
Investigations Program of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in 
Anchorage, Alaska [www.cdc.gov/ncidod/aip/research/ics.html]. It actively solicits 
reports from hospital and public health laboratories in collaborating circumpolar 
regions. It processes a rich amount of clinical and microbiological information. In 
contrast, CircHOB collects basic epidemiological data (the number of cases and rates) 
on a different set of infectious diseases (tuberculosis, sexually transmitted diseases, and 
hepatitis) published by national public health agencies of all the circumpolar regions. 

• The Arctic Social Indicators [ASI] project sprang from SDWG’s Arctic Human 
Development Report of 2004 and strives to identify and track over the long term a small 
number of indicators in 6 domains of human development. It is coordinated by the 
Stefansson Arctic Institute in Akureyri, Iceland [www.svs.is/ASI/ASI.htm]. Although 
“health and population” is one of the 6 domains, ASI has selected only one health 
indicator - the infant mortality rate - while the whole spectrum of health in all its 
complexity is the focus of CircHOB. Researchers interested in the development of 
composite indices of social well-being are welcome to access the whole array of health 
data collected and disseminated by CircHOB. 

• ArcticStat is a valuable web-based resource which has a similar geographical scope as 
CircHOB. It is based at the Faculté des sciences sociales, Université Laval in Québec, 
Canada [www.arcticstat.org]. It is particularly rich in social and economic data but 
relatively under-developed in health indicators. ArcticStat provides a short-cut by 
leading users directly to a specific table in the website of a specific agency. It does not 
generate tables of comparative (and comparable) indicators for all the circumpolar 
regions. CircHOB collects data only on those indicators for which there is standardized 
and internationally agreed definitions and are comparable across circumpolar regions. 
Nevertheless, CircHOB is prepared to collaborate with ArcticStat and contribute health 
data in return for socioeconomic data which are relevant as health determinants.    

 
Thematic Areas/Main Variables 
 
CirHOB currently monitors the following types of health indicators: 
• Population: Size, age-sex distribution, density, urban areas, indigenous peoples 
• Fertility: crude birth rate, total fertility rate, distribution of livebirths by mothers’ age 
• Mortality: crude death rate, age-sex-specific mortality rates, life expectancy at birth, 

infant mortality rate, age-standardized mortality rates by cause 
• Reproductive Outcomes: perinatal mortality rate, distribution of livebirths by 

birthweight and gestational age 
• Disease Incidence: incidence of cancer by site, incidence of tuberculosis, hepatitis A 

and B, sexually transmitted diseases (HIV/AIDS, chlamydia, gonorrhea, syphilis) 
• Socioeconomic Conditions: Gross Domestic Product, tertiary education 
• Health-Related Behaviours: smoking 
• Health Care Resources: human resources, health expenditures, facilities 
 
CircHOB intends to capture additional data on health-related behaviours, attitudes, and 
practices collected by health surveys in various circumpolar countries and regions. 
However, published data are not directly comparable, due to differences in the construction 
of variables, sampling techniques, and contextual meanings of underlying concepts. 
Substantial international comparative research is needed before such data can be presented.  
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Geographical Coverage 
 
As most health statistics are collected by government agencies, they are usually aggregated by 
administrative and political divisions. CircHOB defines its circumpolar countries and regions 
based on such divisions (see Map), including: 
 
[US] United States [DK] Denmark [RU] Russian Federation 

[Ak] Alaska [Gl] Greenland [Mu] Murmansk Oblast 
[CA] Canada [Fo] Faroe Islands [Ka] Kareliya Republic 

[Yk] Yukon [IS] Iceland [Ar] Arkhangelsk Oblast 
[Nt] Northwest Territories [NO] Norway     [Ne] Nenets AO 
[Nu] Nunavut [Nd] Nordland [Ko] Komi Republic 

 [Tr] Troms [Yn] Yamalo-Nenets AO 
 [Fm] Finnmark [Km] Khanty-Mansi AO 
 [SE] Sweden [Tm] Taymyr AO 

 [Vb] Västerbotten  [Ev] Evenki AO 
 [Nb] Norrbotten  [Sk] Sakha Republic 

 [FI] Finland  [Ma] Magadan Oblast 
 [Ou] Oulu  [Ky] Koryak AO 
 [La] Lappi  [Ck] Chukotka AO 

Note:  AO = autonomous okrug 
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Additional breakdown for most data also available for Alaska Natives and Greenland-born 
Greenlanders; more limited breakdown is available for Canadian First Nations and Inuit.  
 
Data Availability and Products 
 
The main medium of dissemination of CircHOB is the searchable and interactive databank 
established at its website [www.circhob.circumpolarhealth.org].   
 
Print/electronic publications consisting of tables, charts, maps and interpretive text will be 
produced periodically as a Circumpolar Health Supplement produced by the International 
Journal of Circumpolar Health [www.ijch.fi]. A prototype already published is the 
Circumpolar Health Supplement 2008(3): Circumpolar Health Indicators: Sources, Data, 
and Maps. 
 
CircHOB generates interpretative statistical reports covering specific topics and political 
jurisdictions from its database at the request of sponsoring agencies and research partners. 
 
Budget and Sources of Funding 
 
This proposal covers Phase I [start-up] of a multi-year project.  
 
Start-up funding for CircHOB has been provided by the Canadian Institutes of Health 
Research’s [CIHR] team grant on circumpolar health research already awarded to Prof. Kue 
Young ($50,000 CDN allocated to CircHOB for 2010). In-kind support is provided by the 
Institute for Circumpolar Health Research (clerical services, web support). 
 
Operational costs of CircHOB include annual meetings of steering committee and working 
groups; purchase of statistical datasets, reports, and online access to proprietary databases; 
web management services and technical assistance; administrative support; translation 
services; and graduate student traineeships. Annual expenditures are estimated to total 
about $75,000 CDN. This amount is currently unfunded. 
 
CircHOB seeks financial support from different national and regional government agencies 
and research councils to sustain and expand its operations beyond Phase I. 
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Appendix: Data Sources 
 
The following is a list of organizations and agencies from which statistical data are 
available and have been accessed in creating CircHOB. 
 
International 
• Association of Nordic Cancer Registries (NORDCAN) www.ancr.nu/nordcan.asp  
• Nordic Medico-Statistical Committee (NOMESCO) www.nom-nos.dk  
• Nordic Council of Ministers: www.norden.org  

Nordic Statistical Database ww3.dst.dk/pxwebnordic/Dialog/statfile1.asp  
• Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): www.oecd.org  

SourceOECD online library of statistical databases http://oberon.sourceoecd.org  
• Statistical Agency of the European Communities (EUROSTAT) 

http://epp.eurostat.cec.eu.int  
• World Health Organization (WHO): www.who.int  

WHO Statistical Information System (WHOSIS) www.who.int/whosis  
WHO Mortality Database www.who.int/healthinfo/morttables/en/index.html  

 
Canada 
• Canadian Institute of Health Information (CIHI) www.cihi.ca  
• Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) www.phac-aspc.gc.ca  
• Statistics Canada www.statcan.ca  
 
Denmark 
• Danmarks Statistik [Statistics Denmark] www.dst.dk  
 StatBank www.statbank.dk  
• Statens Institut for Folkesundhed [National Institute of Public Health]  
 www.si-folkesundhed.dk  
• Statens Serum Institut www.ssi.dk  
• Sundhedsstyrelsen [National Board of Health] www.sst.dk  
 Statistical database http://sundhedsdata.sst.dk  
 
Faroe Islands 
• Hagstova Føroya [Statistics Faroe Islands] www.hagstova.fo  
• Landslæknin í Føroyum [Chief Medical Officer] www.landslaeknin.fo  
 
Finland 
• Suomen Syöpärekisteri [Finnish Cancer Registry] www.cancerregistry.fi  
• Terveyden ja hyvinvoinnin laitos [National Institute for Health and Welfare] 

www.thl.fi  
SOTKANet  http://uusi.sotkanet.fi

• Tilastokeskus [Statistics Finland] www.stat.fi  
 Statistical database http://statfin.stat.fi  
 
Greenland 
• Grønlands Statistik / Kalaallit Nunaanni Naatsorsueqqissaartarfik 
 [Statistics Greenland] www.stat.gl   
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• Landslægeembedet / Peqqinnissakkut Nakkutilliisoqarfik/ 
[Chief Medical Officer] 
http://dk.nanoq.gl/Emner/Landsstyre/Departementer/Landslaegeembedet.aspx  

 
Iceland 
• Hagstofa Íslands [Statistics Iceland] www.statice.is  
• Landlæknisembættiđ [Directorate of Health] www.landlaeknir.is  
• Lýðheilsustöð [Public Health Institute] www.lydheilsustod.is   
 
Norway 
• Kreftregisteret [Cancer Registry of Norway] www.kreftregisteret.no  
• Nasjonalt folkehelseinstituttet [Norwegian Institute of Public Health] 
 www.fhi.no
 Norgeshelsa [Norhealth]  http://norgeshelsa.no  
• Statistisk sentralbyrå [Statistics Norway] www.ssb.no  

Statbank http://statbank.ssb.no    
 
Russia 
• Federal’naia sluzba gosydarstvennoi statistiki [Federal State Statistics Service], 

formerly Goskomstat Rossii www.gks.ru  
• East View Information Services www.eastview.com  
 
Sweden 
• Smittskyddsinstitutet [Swedish Institute for Infectious Disease Control] 

www.smittskyddsinstitutet.se  
• Socialstyrelsen [National Board of Health and Welfare] www.socialstyrelsen.se  
• Statens folkhälsoinstitut [Swedish National Institute of Public Health] www.fhi.se 
• Statistika centralbyrån [Statistics Sweden] www.scb.se  

Statistikdatabasen www.ssd.scb.se  
 
United States 
• Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium www.anthc.org  

Alaska Native Epidemiology Center www.anthc.org/chs/epicenter/index.cfm  
• Alaska State Department of Health and Social Services www.hss.state.ak.us  

Alaska Center for Health Data and Statistics www.hss.state.ak.us/dph/infocenter
• Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) www.cdc.gov  

CDC Wonder http://wonder.cdc.gov  
• National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) www.cdc.gov/nchs  

VitalStats www.cdc.gov/nchs/datawh/vitalstats.htm  
• U.S. Census Bureau www.census.gov  
 American FactFinder http://factfinder.census.gov  
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